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BABS No. VA-79
Fage 1

BOLLINGBROOK

Fetersburg, Virginis
Owner:  Unknowan.

Date of Erection: 3rd guaerter, 18 century.

Builder: Unknowin.

Fresent Condition: Demolished.

Rumber of Stories: 15

Materials of Comstruction: Frame with brick

foundation.

Other hxisting Records: As noted in text.

Additional Data: See followiug pages, also

icssing's tictorial Field Book of the Bevolu-
tion, Ficture of houses, p. 389, v. 2; is 23

x lﬂ" wide. BDescription largely copied from

3. L. Hessenger.

igncaster, Historle Virzinia Homes and Churches
T« 9%, llcture evidently erlirsed and retouch-
ei Trom lossing. ‘lext practically all from
Lessing.




Fage 2

BOLLINGEROCK

FEAERSHEURG, VIRGINIA

"Bollingbrook™, wnhich was sometimes called
"Fast #ill'" from its location cn a xnoll of that
ngme on the bunks of the appomattox, was a place of
distinction due to its asseoclaticn with the influen-
tial Bollingz family. <Colonel Robert Bolling (1lo82-
1749) who added the site of "Bollingbrook" to his
many holdings in 1720," was a man of prominence 1in
prince George County, being s colonsl in the Colonial
wmilitia, justice of the court, vestrymsn of hristol
Farish, and in sddition to his lend holdings was
proprietor of a trading post which was likely loca-
ted at the Falls of the Appomattox.2 At the time
Colonel Bollimg bought the "Hast [{311]l" traet the Falls
of Appomattox was a very small bui important trading
settlement serving the not far distant frontier.
Fetersburg was eveniually built up in part upon
Robert Beolling's lend adjscent to "Bollingbrook."
He and his son apd grandson, were prominent in guiding
and promoting the growth of the tobacco shipping and.
trading center. [From the time when Petersburg was
laid out in 1743 at the directign of Coleonel Bolling's
friend william 3Byrd of westover™ until Civil War times,
the Bollings participated in practically every civie
and commercisl undertaking of the community, and in-
deed this powerful family owned a coansiderable par-
tion 8f the business and residential section of
town.Y Up until Revolutionary War times the palace
was more generall: known ag Bolling's Foint rather
than getersburg, the name bestowed upon it by William:
Byrd. :

Revelutionary war events of more specifie his~ .

toric interest are associzted with "Bollincshrook."
When on April 25, 178] a British force under Fhillips
snd Zenedict Arnold descended uporn Fetersburg the
Ameriean militia made & final unsuceeszsful stand be-

bore Mrs. Bolling's front geste, her son, 8 captain of

cavalry, tasking part in the engagement.

Cn Mey 9, 1781 the British refurned to Peters-
burg., TFhillips now 1ll and forcded to ride in a posd
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chaise, established headquarters with Arnold at
"Bollingbrook.” On the 10th laFayette shelled the
¢ity from the heights s¢ross the Appomattox making
"Bollingbroock” a particulsr cbject of the fire of
his light fisld pieces. Fhillips, complaining
"won't they let me dle in peace™, was removed to
the cellar for safety. The house was reported to
have been strueck at least once, Killing a negro
gook. On May 13th Fhillips died in the west room
of the "east house” and was buried, according to
tradition, in Blandford churchyard.8

In 1788, the Mmrquis de Chastellux, a gen-
aeral in the French army who had participated in the

‘defest of Cornwallis at Yorktown, visited Mrs. Boliling.

His entertaining description of "Bollingbrook®™ and
its occupants is recorded in the published account
of the Marquis' travels iu America.

From the existimg public¢ records it is im-
rossible to assign a definite date to the building
of "Bollingbrook.” Qur facts are these: The site of
the place was bought by the Rollings in 1720, at a
price that indicates that there were no buildings of
considerable value on the land.iC In 1782 Colonel
Williem Byrd wrote that Robert Belling was living
within hearing of the falls of the Appomattox.ll
This ¢ould easily epply to the site of "Bollingbrook.”
However, Colonel Bolling's will dated 1747 calls the
plantation which he owned in Amelia County "Bolling-
broek", but he gives no name for his dwelling at
Pe%;ersaburg.l2 The earliest documentary mention of
the "Bollingbrook" in Fetersburg is dated 1775.19
From this it is apparent that "Bollingbrook"™ with
which we are concerned was certainly built sometime
between 1720 and 1775, but more likely wuas construc-
ted sometime subsequent to Colonel Folling's will
of 1747, the date of the will mentioned above.,

From the writings of the Maryuis de Chastellux
we learn that "Bollingbrook" was an establishment con-
gisting of two houses of similar appearance, which
Mrs. Bolling proposed to join together.l4 Excavations
conducted in 19%4 under the supervision of the Junior
Historian of the letersburg Nationai Military Fark
indicated that the buildings were located on the same
axis. DBensgon Lossing made a sketch showing the two



buildings in 1848, which is reproduced in his
Tigld Hoox of the iHevolution.l® The east build-
ing burned to the foundations in 18556.7¢ The
plans which have been submitted are, therefore,

of the west house which was recentiy torn down.

A pootogreph of this house takKen shortly before
its destruction is published 1in a Fetersburg guide
book.1?

Prepared by

Manning C. Voorhis,
Junicr Historian
Fetersburg National Military Park.
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NOTES

Folling Deed Book, MS3. in McHenney Library,
Fetersburg, Virginis, p. 1. Herealter cited
as Bolling Deeds.

Yrince George County, Virginia, (rder Eook,
1714-20, pp. 29, 42, o9, &1, 107, <6, oib.
Nimmo Notes Vols. 4, p. 143y T p. 705 6, (b,

6, 16, 88. in WecKenney Library, letersburg,
Virginia. History of Bristel Farish, Virginia,
Thillip Slsughter (Richmond 1879). The guo-
tations from the parish records countain fre-
cuent references to Colonel Bolling's services
a8 vestryman.

Statutes at large: A Collection of the laws

of Virginia, V.V, Henning, editor, {(Richmond,
1820) Vol. 4, p. 267. Bolliug Deeds pr. 1,
Dl-54.

Calendar of Virginia State Papers. w.FP. Faluer,
editor, {Richmond 187%) Vol. 1, p. 217,

Prince George County, Virginia, Deed Book, Vol. 1,
p. 584.

Virginia Magazine of History and Biography, Vol.

"29, p. 497.

Bolling Deeds, p. 1.

Writings of Willlem Ryrd of Westover,
J.5, Bassett, editor, pp. E50-E53, 2uZ,

Bolling Deed Book shows the business like way in
which the Bollingbrook property was developed.

A Tour of the U,S.4., J.F.L. Gmyth, Esq.
(London 1784) pp. 60-64.

Bland Papers Charles Campbell, editor, (Petersburg,
1640) Vol. 2, p. 68.

Joncerning the British stay at Bollingbrook sece
the article by Charles Campbell on "The Hritish

at Bollingbreek" in the January, 1640 issue of the
Southern Literary Messenger. In regerd to the
shelling see Memolirs of General laFayelte, (pre-
pared by hic family, Englieh edition putlished
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New York 1847} p. 518, fThis uuotes a letter
from laFayette to lashington dated Kay 18,
1781. See also Journsls of the Campaigns in
the ameriean pevolution, J. Simcoe, {(New York,

5

1884} p. 206,

Travels in North America, Marguis de Chastellux,

pp. E07-26B.
Bolling Deeds, p. &4.

The writings of Colonel williswm Byrd of westover,

J.5. Hassett, editor, (hew Yorz, 19Ul pp. 25,
252,

Tiolling Deeds, p. l.
ITbid, p. 1.
chastellux, op,cit., p. 268

Field Eopok of the americen Hevolution, Renson

Lossing.

Southside Democrat, Newspaper published in Peters-
burg, Virginia, edition of august 12, 1855. Jopy
in the files of the Menenney library.

Guide DBook of the {ity of Ytetersburyg, L.M. Kernodle,
{ Richmond, 19¢18; p. 8.
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The Southern Literary Messenger: Vol. VI. 1840
Pages 85-86.

REMINISCENCES
of the British at Bollingbrook.
Inscribed to the Lady there.

There is, perhaps, no house in Virginis connected with a
greater number of military revoluticnary recollecticns,than
Bollingbrook in the town of Petersburg. The Marquis of Chas-
tellux who visited the place, noit long after it had been oc-
cupled by the British army, mentions this mansion thus—

"We thought it time to pay our respects Lo Mrs. Boiling, snd
begged Mr. Victor to conduct us te her., Her house, or rather
houses, for she has twe on the same line resembling each other,
which she proposes to join together, are situated on the sum-
nit of a considersble slope, which rises from the level of

tie town of Petersburgh, snd corresponds s¢ exactly with the
course of the river, thal there is no doubt of its having
formerly formed one of its banks. The slope and the vast
platform, on which the house is built, are covered with grass
(which affords excellient pastursge) and are also her propertyr.

April 25th, 1781, at five ofclock P. ¥., the enemy ap-
peared in Blendford, 4 battelion of American militia posted
between the gate of Bollingbrook housse and the Bollingbrook
warehcuses, resisted, uvntil, flanked by four pieces of artil-
lery,® they were compelled to retreat, and the tomn was
taken possession of by the inveders.¥

On the approzch of the enemy, a lsrge portion of the
people of the town made their egcape. General Phillips took
up his residence &t Bollingbrook., He and the officerg of his
family sre said to have trested Mrs. Bolling with a good deal
of courtesy, and (some add) addressed her always as Lady
Belling. 4rncld is recolleclied as & handsome man, that
limped in his gait;t He was fond of csressing the children
of the feamily, and dandied them on his knee. He mentioned to
the two girls then there, that ne had st howme two sons, one of
them a Whig, the other & Tory, whom ne proposed to meten with
them, inaccordance with their particular political predilec—
tions. 'The kindness of Major Butler is likewise matter of
tradition. :

®Woen the firing commenced, a negro woman of Mrs. Bolling's
came running in excleiming, "Mistis de British is bulleting.®

+The late Robert Bolling, Sr., was present in this skirmish,
with a party of horse under his commsnd.

j;From a wound received at Saratogs, where Phillips was made

captive with Burgoyne's army.
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Botir the houses on Bollingbrcek nill were occupled by
British officers. Hrs. Bolling was zlloved toe use of &
room in the yrear of the east buillding. Two sentinels were 5
planted at each door of the house with crossed beyonets.

The British soldiery repestedly set on fire the fences about
Bollingbrook, and freguently fall arcund was in a Iight
blaze, ' Upon these occaslons, Mrs. Boliing was obliged to
send her gervants to arrest the flames, and she was thus

kept in a state of continual apprehension and alarm. Be-

fore the arrival of the enemy, carrlages were dally passing
by, with families from the lower country, repalring to a place
of refuge. Mrs. Bolling was strongly tempted to follow their
example, buat remained for the purpose of shielding her grop-
erty, ss well as she could, from destruction.

On the next day after his arrival, (to wit, the 26th of . }
Aoril) General Phillips (according to Arncld's lefter to Sir S b
Rarry Clinton,) burned 4000 bhds. of tobacco. The werehouses i “iody,
which belonged to Mrs. Bolling, at her solicitstion, were
spered on cendition that the inhabitants should remove the
tobacco from them, which was accordingiy odone, by extraordi-
nary exertions, during the night of the 25th. This confla-
gration nmust have presented a striking and picturesyue spee-
tacle. The scarlet—dressed soldiers moving about amldst the
flames, scattering the fire-brands, and officiating in the
wvork of destruction——the burning cof the shiprirz on the river,
reflecting its lurid glare on Pocahontas and Blandford--
heightened the effect of the gcene.

The combustion of such an encrmous quentity of tobacco,
no doubt must bave Ilmpregnated the alir with its odors for a
consliderable distsnce arcund; and tie most inveteraste smoker
in the town, must for once have been fully satisfied that a
conjuncture had arrived, when these "colleteral sweets"
rendered any further use of the individual pipe, a2 matter
wholly uncalled for, pleonastic, and supererogatory. The
burning commenced at 2 o'eloek in the day, and continued
guring the entire night. The British trcops marched out of
town early pext morning. How fer this movement was abirib-
utable tc the excessively fumigated condition of the atmos-—
phere of the glace, history has left as mere mstter of con-
jecture. It is said, that the British troops at that time

There was then & tavern somewhere near the corner of 0ld
and Market gtreets, called the 'Golden Ball,' at which a
number of the British quartered.

}| Chastelivx seys, speaking of the enclosure, "It was formerly
surrounded by rails, sno she raised a number of fine horses
there, but the English burned the fences, and carried away
a great number of the horses.n
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in Petersburg were afflicted with the swmall-pox. Possibly,
{as "it is en ill-wind that blows nobody any good,") this
extraordinary nicotian fumigation, may have proven service-
able to such as labored under that malady.

Among the ineicents that have floated down the uncer-
tain current of tradition, is one of adeserter from the Brit-
ish army having been shot at the spring near Bollingbrook.
General Phillips is reported to have ordered the execution
with a high degrec of military "sang froid."

Arnold, on dit, cautioned Mrs. Beolling to be earefui in
her intercourse with General Phiilips, not to irritzte him,
g8 he was & wan of an ungovernable temper. This lady, during
that pericd of terror, suffered an Intense solicitude and
anxiety, which discovered itself in her unconsciously darning
the needles with which she was knitting intc the bed by which
she sat. Her conduct during this trying crisis, displayed a
herolism which doubtless won the respect of the British officers;
whe are in general "men of nonor and cavaliers.™

After committing devestations al Osborne's, Hanchester,
Farwick, &c., the enemy set sail, and proceeded down James
River, until reeeiving (near Hog Isleand) countermanding orders,
they returned up the river. On the 7th of May, they landed in
a gale of wind at Brandon; and on the 9th, marched thirty
miles, and entered Petersburg late in tre night. They came
s8¢ unexpectedly as to surorise ten American officers, who
were there for the jurpose of collecting becats, tc convey the
army of the Marauis Lz Fayette across the James River.

Among these officers was a2 Lieutenant Bowyer, who happened to
be at Bollingbrook when the British arrived at the door. He
hewever made his esecape, and teok up a pesition in a bamboo
thicket, perhaps near Baitersea, where, securely ensconced,
he amised himself cursing the party of scldiers in gursuit of
him, who upen reconboitering his sanctuary found it impen-
getrable, and retired.

Genersl Phillips entered Petersburg tuls second time,
gick of a bilious fever;—-he arrived on the 9th of May, and
breathed his last, on the 13th, at Boliingbrook. He lay
glck in the west room front of the east building. During the
illness of General Phillips, the town was camnonaded by La
Fayette from Archer's hill,*® and it ie cemmonly reported that
he died while the canncnade was going on. It seems however
more yrobable, thatihis cannonade occurred on the 10th, when

*0n the north side of the river opposite the town.
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Le Fayette {according to Arncld's letter) Mappeared with a
strong escort, on the cpposite side of the river,¥ and having
staid some time to recomnoitre, returned to Osborne's.”
Cannon-~bslls fired upon thst occasion, were preserved in the
town some years sgo, and may be yet extant. The Americans
being aware that Bollingbrook was head-guarters, directed
their shot particulerly at that house,¥ a messure which, con-
sidering the sickness of General Phillips, would hardly bhave
been justifiable, but for the horrid series of devastations in
vidieh he had just been engaged, in company of that odious
traitor Arnold. This officer in the early part of the cannon-
ade was walking zercoss the yard, until a ball having passed
very near him, he hastened into the house, and directed all
the inmetes to go down into the cellar for shelter.4 General
Phillips wac removed dowr there. Hrs. Bolling also tock
refuge there, with -ng or two ladies who were with her.
Anburey Q(if‘ memory serves) mentions that during the firing of
the American artillery, Pnilliops being thnen at the point of
death, exclalmed--"wont they let me die in peace?"

t The Appomatitox.

4 Two balls struck the house, one of wnich being spent, lodged
in the front wall of the house; the other passed through the
house, and killed a negro woman (o0ld Molly) who was standing

by the kitchen door, in the act of reviling the American troops.

On the approach of the enemy, 01 Tou, a house servant, was
provident enough to bury certain silver plste, money, &c.,
in tue cellary there is also a vegue rumor of an earthenware
teapot, tull of gold. While Arnold was down in the cellar, he
wes not aware that he was in such desireble company. There
is still in preservation in the tewm, a <ot of China-ware,
wiiten was interred at this time.

ﬂ In 4is travels in the interior of North America.
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On the 20th of May, 1781, just one week after the death
of Phillips, Lord Cormwallis eniecred Petersburg, on his route
from Wilmington, Rorth Carclina. The mereh from that place
occupied nearly a *month. The battle at Guilford Courthouse,
{that disastrous victory,) occurred on the 15th day of Harch,
after which Cormwaliis retired to Wilmington, whien he reached
April -7th, and having left on the 25th of the same month, ar-
rived st Petersburg, May 20th. To favor the passage of the
many rivers with which the country is intersected, two boats
were mounted upon wheeled earriages and taken along with his
arny. His Lordship on hHls arrival at Petersburg, uiiied his
forces with those of Arncid, upon wihom at the death of Phil-
lips the commsnd had devolved. The force Coruwallis brought
with hin amcuntsd to 2000, that of Arnold to 2500, making the
total foree under the command of his Lordshiy then encamped
in and near Petersburg, 4,500--enougn to make the streets of
the town lively with red-coats..

It ig difficult to ascertain the spot where the British
camp stood; there seems to be some reascon Lo suppose it was
pitehed somewhere in the vieinity of where is now the Basin
of the canal, but the point is involved in a good deal of
doubt. Chagtellux speaks of it as follows--"Mr., Victer

- conducted me to the caump formerly occupled by the enemy, and
testified his regret thai I could wnot take a nearsr view of
Mr. Banister's hsndsome country-house,¥ mhich wag in sizght,
there being no other obstacle however than the distance,
about & mile and a half," &e. It is hard to concelve at
what point of wview the Maryuis stood, to see Battersea at
sueh a distance; it would not be easy to find such a. polnt
even necvi, when certainly the prospect of the environg 1s
less obstructed by woods than it then was.

Cornwallis remained in Petersburg only three or four days,
and, a8 1s understood, made his head-guarters at Bollingbrook.
General O'Hara, it appears, was guaritered at what is commonly
styled the "Long Ornary, '-—about a mile to the west of Peters-
burg, on the main roed. BMrs. Bolling found it necessary to
visit this officer at that place, for the surpose of recover-
ing certain negroes, and horses, which had been taken from
her and were then there. The genersl cousented to restore the
slaves, bubt with respect to the horses proved gquite inexorable.
He is described as a harsh, uncouth person. He was wounded
at the battle of Guilford, and surrendered lLord Cornwallis's
sword at Yorik-town.

1' Battersea.



bria

At the siege of Toulon, in g sortie mede by the youthful
Napoleon, =z grenadier in the dariness of the night drevw a
wounded prisoner dovn lato a ditch; that prisoner, was Major
General O'Hara of 'Long Ornary' memory, commander in chief of
the British forces.

The following letter is from Earl Corawsllis to Tarleton:

"Byra's Plantation, ‘estover,
May 25th, 1781,

Dear Tarleton:--The swimmingﬁihas succesded very well,
notwilhstanding the high wind; the wagons are the nmost tedious
part of tne business. I trust however tnst every thing will
be ready for your passing early to-morrow woruirig. In the
mesntine you w%ill patrole towards the Appomstiox, and do
every thing you can tec procure initelligence.®

Such are some of the revolutionary recollections as~
sceiated with Bollingbrook house; that they may serve to
amuse the lady there, is the wish of
Petersburg, Va., Dec. 1839. C. C.

# If this refers to the horses of the Briiish army, the swimming
mast have been effected by the assistance of boats, the James
River being very wide there.

\On page 87, column 1 is & sentence referring to M"the
zastern gate of Bellingbrook,).

Sow Ciarq 636 7T
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BOLLINGBROOK
By Mawnixe C. Voorsuis

“Bollingbrook,” which stood on East Hill overlooking
the Appomattox at Petersburg, Virginia, was a place of dis-
tinction due to its association with the influential Bolling
family. From the time when “Falls of Appomattox” was
simply a firontier trading post until a flourishing city grew
up on the site, members of this family have been prominent
in practically every enterprise of public importance.

Colonel Robert Bolling (1682-1749), son of the original
Bolling immigrant to Virginia, purchased lands within the
present area of Petersburg as ecarly as 17061 He was ex-
tremely active in the pursuit of his ambitions, vet typical of
his family, he was equally zealous in the exercise of the many
public responsibilities with which he was entrusted. In addi-
tion to his commission in the Colonial Militia, Colonel Bolling
was justice and surveyor in Prince George County. and mem-
ber of the Bristol Parish Vestry? He acquired extensive
lands in Amelia County, owned a mill on the Appomattox
and a trading store which was very likely located near the
falls of the Appomattox.®

It is notl altogether clear when Colonel Bolling moved
from his Noitoway River Plantation (called Bollingbrook)* to
his lands on the Appomattox. Indeed it is by no means cer-
tain that Colonel Bolling ever actually lived on his Notto-
way River Plantation. At any rate he was married at Kip-
pax in 17065 and the same year, as already mentioned, he

1 Bolling Deed Book, p. 1. MSS. in McKenney Library, Petershurg,
Va. Hereafter cited as Bolling Deeds.

2 Prince George County, Virginia, Order Book, 1714-20, pp. 29, 42,
59, 81, 318. Hereafter cited as Prince George Order Book. Nimmo Notes,
Vol. 6, p. 6. MSS. in McKemney Library, Petersburg, Va. Slaughter,
Phillip, History of Bristol Parish, Virginia, (Richmond, 1879).

3 Prince George Order Book, 1714-20, pp. 157, 236; Statutes at Large,
A Collection of the Laws of Virginia, W. W, Hening, editor, (Richmond,
1820), Vol. 4, p. 267.

Boliing Decds, pp. 1, 81, 54.

Nimmo Notes, Vols. 4, p. 143, Vol. 5, p. 75, Vol. 6, p. 16,

Calendar of Virginia State Fapers, W. P. Palmer, editor (Richmond,
1875), Vol. 1, p. 217.

Prince George County, Virginia, Deed Book, Vol. T, p. 584. Here-
after cited as Prince George Deeds.

Virginia Muagazine of History and Biography, Vol. 29, p. 497

4 Bolling Deeds, p. 1.

@ MSS. belonging to Mrs, Elizabeth Bolling Cameron, Petersburg, Vir-
ginia.
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made his first purchase of land within the modern limits of
Petersburg.® Howéver this tract did not include the site of
“Bollingbrook,” which was not acquired until 1720.7 William
‘Byrd of Westover assures us that by 1728 his friend, Colonel
Bolling, had established a comfortable home within hearing
of the falls of the Appomattox.® No evidence has been dis-
covered to show whether or not this house was located on
East Hilt. Tradition has it that the original Bolling home
stood somewhat further from the river, and the deed-books
seem fo suggest this possibility,?

‘The second Robert Bolling (1720-1775)% of this imme-
diate vicinity (also a Colonel) was in all probability the
builder of “Bollingbrook.” At any event, on his death in
1775 te left the place for the use of wife, Mary M. Bolling,*?
the widow whom the Marquis de Chastellux found so clever .
and handsome. During the life time of this member of the -
Bolling family, the Bolling’s Point!? settlement became .a
town and grew to be one of the foremost communities of
colonial Virginia. Robert Bolling shared in.this prosperity,
adding considerably. to the estate which his father had left
him, Besides his plantations in Dinwiddie County and his-
extensive property in Petersburg -and Blanford, Colonel -
Bolling owned two very profitable flour mills (one of which:
was located on the Appomattox in the neighborhood of Brick-
house Run), and four public tobacco warehouses® Tor a
number of years he represented Dinwiddie County in the

House of Burgesses. Along with George Washington he was ~ =

among the members of this body which met in the _A_pol]o'
Room of Raleigh Tavern after Lord Dunmore had dissolved
the Burgesses in anger at their msubordmatlon There he
joined the distinguished company in-a toast to the King and

Royal Family, but the pledge was accompamed with a solemn

8 Bolling Deeds, p. 1.

7 [bid., p. 34.

8 The Wrdmgs of Col, William Byrd of Westover J S. Bassett, editof,
(New York, 1901}, pp. 25, 253. :
' 2 Prince. George Deeds, p. 584,

12 Slaughter, op. c@t, rp. 140-146,

11 Boiling Deeds, p. 6. ' R

12 S'tatutes gt Large, _Vo‘l 4, 143; Pctersburg was commonly callcd'.
Bolling’s Point until as late as 1776 See: Stasutes af Large, Vol 8 p.
78, alsg Tour of the United States of Amema, by J F Smyth “Vol,

p
13 Bolling: Deeds, p. 5, 56—58

- Chastellicx, Marqais de, Travels in North America, { New York 1827),':; : o

“Vdl. 4, pp. 267, 268,




06T LN0HY WAV Hava — MU
. Y [ aVEOQLOH J— MOOUTINITIOH,, 40 NOTLYO] |, SSOOT[ LETAY
" iy T Wy

13
e 5 z




WiLL1aM AND MARY QUARTERLY 347

resolve to buy no British goods until constitutional rights
were respected.'

Colonel Bolling did not live to contribute his services
in the defense of liberty. However, his son Robert Bolling,
a youth in his teens at the outbreak of the conflict, became
a captain of cavalry in the Virginia Militia.l® In 1781 the
young man was elected a member of the Virginia House of
Delegates.’® After the war he was principally engaged in
the development of the property which his father had left him.
Before the Revolution Petersburg and Blanford had been sep-
arated by the lands attached to “Bollingbrook”—that is to
say, the tract between modern Sycamore Street and Lieu-
tenant Run. Extept for “Bollingbrook” and the Bolling to-
bacco warehouse and shipping wharves there were few other
buildings on this tract, it being partly used as pasture for
the fine horses belonging to Mr. Bolling’s mother.’” In 1783
Robert Bolling began to lay .out this %and into lots, selling
some of them outright and leasing others on ninety-nine year

terms.?®  Within this area he donated lands for a market .

place and a site for the court house where he served as alder-
man, recorder, and finally as mayor of the town which ex-
panded to & great extent on his lands, and according to his
planning.*?

‘We are prone to think of our own times as surpassing
all athers in the changes wrought by influstry and inventive
genius. Yet Robert Bolling witnessed arid took an active part
in a social revolution that was relatively greater. In his
vouth, from the pasture surrounding “Bollingbrook,” he
watched the leisurely comings and goings of a Colonial to-
bacco port where schooners lay patiently at anchor wait-
ing for a westerly breeze to start the long voyage to Eng-
land. From the same vantage point in his later days Robert
Bolling might have looked upon a scene in which steamships,
railroads, cotton mills, and similar accessories to the bustle
" and prospérity of our republic, were prominent. And in al-

14 Wﬂham and Mary Quarterly, Vol 13, p. 65 Journal af the Howse
of Burqe.rses, 1770-1775.
15 Pirginig Magazme of History cmd Bmgmphy, Vol. 22, p. 110,
18 Pirginia Magasine of History and Biography, Vol é p. 217,
Journal of the Virginiz House of Delegates. 1781 Chastellux, 0.
cit,, p. 268-209, i
17 Chastellux, op. cif., p. 268.
Plat Book, Vol. 1, Plat 21 City Clerk’s Dﬂﬁce, ‘Petershurg, Virginia,
- 15 Bolling Deeds, pp. 133-142, 238,
19 Minutes of the Hustings Court Petersburg, Vlrgmna, Vol. 2, p. 195,
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most all these enterprises Mr. Bolling was a leading pro-
moter.?®

1n 1785 or thereabouts, Robert Bolling and his first wife,
Mary, moved to “West Hill,”®* a house still standing which
was built, so it is said, as a home for the stewards of the
Rolling estate?” 1n 1832 he deeded “West Hill” to his son
George,?® and shortly thereafter built “Center Hill” where
he died in 1838,

Meanwhile Mary M, Bolling, Robert’s mother, continued
to live with her daughters at “Bollingbrock.” She died in
1814 and thereafter her youngest daughter, Marianna, ap-
pears to have occupied the smaller of the Bollingbrook houses
{West house) until her death in 1852.%% Rohert Bolling now
of “West Hill” gave “Bollingbrook” to his son Robert Buck-
ner Bolling in 18283 The son married some three years
later, but whether or not he moved into “Bollingbrook™ has
not been established. East Hill and such buildings as re-
mained upon it continued in the possession of the Bolling
family until 1902 when Anna D. Bolling sold the property to
Messrs. Charles Hall Davis and W. R. MecKenney® 1u
1925 the last portion of “Bollingbrook” (mentioned later as
the “east house”) was torn down. Before wrecking opera-
tions were begun, measured drawings were prepared which
have since been filed with the Historic American Buildings
Survey.,

From the existing pubfic records it is impossibie to assign
a definite date to the building of “Bollingbrook.” Our facts
are these: The East Hill property was bought by Colonel
Bolling in 1720,*" who was living within hearing of the falls
of Appomattox at least as early as 17282 C(Colonel Bolling's
will dated 1747 calls his plantation on Deep Creek in Amelia
County “Bollingbrook,” but he gives no name for his dwell-

- 20 Bolling Rent Rolls, MSS.,, McKenney Library, Petershurg, Virginia,
Entry of November, 1839,
21 Siatutes of Large, Vol 12, p. 42, Minutes of the Hustings Court,
Petersburg, Virginia, Vol. 1, pp. 337-340.
22 Davis, A. K., Three Centuries of an Old Virginia Town, p. 68,
23 Petersburg Deeds, Vol. 7, p. 410, : '
24 Petershurg. Wills, Vel. 2, pp. 102, 122128,
. Bolling Rent Rofs, :
26 Petersburg Deeds, Vol 8, p. 123,
28 Petersburg Deeds, Vol. 81, p. 101,
Petersburg ‘Wills,. Vol. 8, p. 637,
2 B.q!l_igg Deeds, p. 3. .
- B Writings of Col. Wikliom Byrd, pp. 250-253.
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ings at Petersburg.?® It is generally said that the first Bolling
residence in this neighborhood was somewhat further from
the Appomattox than Fast Hill. Some are so specific as fo
state that the original homestead stood near the corner of
modern Wythe and Adams Streets.3® All in all it is reason-
able to comjecture that “Bollingbrook” was built in about
1750 by Robert Bolling, grandson of Robert Bolling, the im-
migrant to Virginia. The fact that Bollingbrook house was
an establishment composed of two houses, suggests the theory
that one part was built and used as a dwelling before the
other section was erected. At least this is the evolutionary
history of many Colonial homes.

We are inclined to associate powdered wigs and silver
buckles with spacious halls, but unfortunately the facts will
not entirely support our fancy. The Virginia gentleman of
the 18th century seems to have been able to live with grace
and dignity in surprisingly small quarters. To be sure there
were a number of plantation houses of impressive proportions,
but many wealthy and influential people enjoyed comfort and
entertained extensively in homes of modest size. In reading
the accounts of travelers one is impressed by the cheerful-
ness with which the Virginia host was wont to share not only
his bed-chamber but even his bed with a seemingly unlimited
number of guests.

“Bollingbrook”™ was far from bemg a large residence,
However, it should be undetstood that “Bollingbrook” prop-
erly speaking was composed of two sepdrate houses, which
together formed a single dwelling establishment. The two
~ houses were built on the same axis facing south and were so

nearly uniform in design as to give the buildings, seen to-
gether, a balanced effect. They were single story and of
frame construction, faced with weather board. - Both were
rectangular ih plan with small square wings at either end.

The Marquis de Chastellux gives us our earliest descrip-
tion of “Bollingbrook.”” After Cornwallis’ surrender at York-
town Chastellux traveled extensively in America and shortly
afterward prepared an account of his adventures for private
circulation. Fortunately for us, he passed the better part of
a day at “Bollmgbrook" and has Ieft the following account
of his visit: :

28 Bolling Deeds, p. 1. '
3¢ No documentary denial or support of this statement has been dis-
covered.
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“Having continued our walk in the town, where we saw
a number of shops, many of which were well stocked, we
thought it time to pay our respects to Mrs. Bowling [sic],
and begged Mr. Victor to conduct us to her. Her house, or
rather houses, for she has two on the same line resembling
each other, which she proposes to join together, are situated
on the summit of a considerable slope, which rises from the
level of the town of Petershurg, and corresponds so exactly
with the source of the river, that there is no doubt of its
having formerly formed one of its banks. Tbis slope and the
vast platform on which the house is built, are covered with
grass, which affords excellent pasturage, and are also her
property. It was formerly surrounded with rails, and she
raised a nuinher of fine horses there; hut the English burned
the fences, and carried away a numher of the horses. On
our arrival we were saluted by Miss Bowling, a yvoung lady
of fifteen, possessing all the freshness of her age; she was
followed by her mother, brother and sisterin-law. The
mother, a lady of fifty, has but little resemblance to her coun-
trywomen ; she is lively, active, and intelligent; knows per-
fectly well how to nianage her immense fortune, and what
is yet more rare, knows how to make good use of it”

“Her son and daughter-in-law, I had already seen in Wil
lHamsburg. The young gentleman appears mild and polite,
but his wife, of only seventeen years of age, is a most interest-
ing acquaintance, not only fromm her face and form, which
are exquisitely delicate, and quite European, but from her
being also descended from the Indian Princess, Pocahontas,
daughter of King Powhatan, of whom I have already spoken.
We may presume that it is rather the disposition of that
amiable American woman, than her exterior bheauty, which
Mrs. Bowling inherited.”’3!

Concerning the interior arrangement at “Bollingbrook”
we are fortunate in having the inventory®® taken shortly -ai-
ter Mrs. Bolling’s death in 1814, which lists in great detadl the
contents of each room at “Bollingbrook.” From this docu-
ment we learn that Mrs. Bolling did not carry out her plan
of joining the two houses on East Hill. ‘The furnishings of
east house clearly indicate that it was being used as a main
dwelling. It contained four rooms; one for dining, two bed:
chambers, and a drawing room. In addition there was 2

large hallway, which we may be reasonably certain ran from

4 Chastellux, op. cif., pp. 268-269
%2 Petersburg Wills, Vol. 2, p. 122-128
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the centrally located front entrance through the house to
the rear door, Apparently one of the chambers was used as
a dressing room, while the other, containing four beds, served
as a dormitory for Mrs. Bolling and her daughters. OQOur in-
formation concerning the utilization of what the inventory
calls west house, which was the building that stood until
recent times, 1s somewhat less complete. It is clear, however,
that there was at least a bed-chamber, a drawing room and
a dining room in that building. The bed room was equipped
for use, but the excessive amount of furniture in the other
rooms suggests that they may have been used for storage
purposes, A detatled blue print plan made before west house
was torn down is at present loaned to the Francis Bland
Randolph Chapter of the D. A, R.

The inventory of 1814, and the Bolling Rent Rolls
give some idea of the outbuildings of “Bollingbrook.” There
were at least five buildings on FEast Hill besides the two
houses previously discussed.  There is a reference to a school
house, which was doubtless used exclusively by the numerous
children of the Bolling household. Near west house there
was a building generally referred to as the red kitchsn, A
dairy stood near the east house. There were also several
cottages which were likely the guarters of the numerous ser-
vants,

The only existing sketch of “Bollingbrook” showing both
east and west house was drawn by Benson Lossing. on the
occasion of his visit to Petersburg in 1848, An engraving
from this drawing reproduced in Lossing’s Field Book of Revolu-
tion, confirms in every respect the remarks of Chastellux and
the information contained in the inventory of Mrs. Bolling’s
gstate,

There can be no reasonable doubt that the building in
the foreground of the drawing is the east house, which as
we have observed was the main residence. The sketch indi-
cates the simplicity of the de31gn, the only ornate feature
being modillions under the cornice. Lossing’s small sketch
does not show west house in any detail, but we may see a
- photograph of. this bulldmg in. the Petersburg Guide Book pub-
llshed in 191636

28 MSS. in the McKenney Library, Petersburg, Virginia.

.34 Lossing, Benson, Field Book of the American Revoludion. - Plate 111
sectiont dealing with Petershurg,

35 Kernadle, L. N, Guide Book of the Ctty o}’ Petersburg (Richmond,
1916), p. 8
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It is fortunate that Lossing made his drawing in 184%
for a few years later, east house was completely destroye
by fire. To be exact the fire occurred, so contemporary new. s
paper accounts tell us, at eleven o’clpck on the r}:ght of Au.
gust 16, 1855. The house was occupied at that time by Mrs,
Montague, and the family of her son-in-law, Mr., Octaviys
Coleman, who were aroused from their beds by the alarm
of those who had observed the flames already issuing from the
center of the roof. The lack of a sufficient supply of water
made it impossible for the firemen to-do anything more than
save the adjacent buildings.®®

As already mentioned, west house and the buildings con-
tinued as rental tenements until some twenty years ago when
west house had fallen into such ruin that it was torn down.

No account of Bollingbrook could be complete without
some mention of its association with the ¢vents of the Reve.
lutionary War, When on April 25, 1781, the British force
under Phillips and Arnold advanced on Petersburg from City
Point, the main body of the Virginia Militia took a position
in the front of Mrs. Bolling’s house., Colonel John Banister,
a witness of the encounter, tells us that the militia were draw::
up in a line extending from Mrs. Bolling’s front gate across
the road from Blandiord to the Bolling warehouses. The mali-
tia confronted by a much larger force, was compelled to re-
treat across the Pocabontas bridge, to the north side of the
Appomattox. Among the patriot forces in this engagement
was Captain Robert Bolling, then a young cavalry officer
On the following day the store of tobacco in the Bolling
warchouses was burned, the citizens being allowed to roil
the hogsheads into the streets so that the warehouses might
be spared.?7

Shortly after this when Phillips and Arnold returned to
Petersburg in order to make a junction with Cornwallis’ force,
“Bollingbrook” was occupied as headquarters by General
Phillips who was then sick with a fever. From May ik
until his death on May 13th, General Phillips lay desperately
ill at Mrs. Bolling’s residence.® The room in which he died
Is reported on good authority 1o have been the west room of

.88 Southside Democrat, Newspaper published in Petersburg, Virgica,
Edition of Aug., 1856, Copy in files of the McKenney Library,
. Y1 The facts of this battle as related are verified by an eve witness
ot B pater, 2 letter May 16, 1781, o, Theodoric Bland. 7
et 15 publis in the Pgpers. Chas. 1], editor, {Peters:
burg, 1840), Vol. 2, p. 68 s Campbe (



WILLIAM AND MARY (QUARTERLY 553

the east house. On May 10th LaFayette cannonaded the
town from Archer’s Hill. Two of the shots are said to have
struck Bollingbrook, one of them killing a negro cook.

When Cornwallis arrived with his army on May Z20th,
it is believed that he also made “Bollingbrook” his residence
and headquarters, until his departure on May 24th.

Many extremely intetesting details concerning the British
occupation of “Bollingbrook™ are reported by the Petersburg
historian, Mr. Charles Campbell, in the January, 1840, issue
of the Southern Literary Messenger. Although the account which
Mr. Campbell gives includes a great deal of tradition, his
remarks are worthy of special consideration since the author
was widely acquainted in this neighborhood while many peo-
ple who witnessed the Revolutionary War were still living,
The incidents which Mr. Campbell relates, however enter-
taining, will not be repeated here, for it has not been possibie
either to support, refute, or add to the statements made by
this able historian.

 BOficigl Letters of the Governor of Virginia, . R. Mcllwaine, editar,
(Richmond, 1928), Vol. 2, p. 210.

Chastellux, op. cit., pp. 238-269.

Simcoe, J. G, Jowrnols of the Compaign in the American Revolution,
{(New York, 1844), p. 203.

3 Memoirs of LaFeyetie (published by his family), p. 513, Simcoe,
op. cit., p. 206.

40 Campbel] Charles, History of the Colony ond Ancient Doammon of
Virginie. (Richmond, 1847), P 170, Campbell, Charles, “Reminiscences
of the British at Bollmgbrook published in the Southern Literary Messen-
ger, January, 31840



LETTER OF A. P. UPSHUR TO J. C. CALHOUN#*
Contributed by LIEUTENANT JoHx A. Upsuur, U. 5. Navy

The following letter, written by Abel Parker Upshur
while Secretary of State to the Honorable John C. Calthoun,
of South Carolina, was recently discovered by Lieutenant John
A. Upshur, U. S. Navy, a great-nephew of the Secretary.

Washington,
Aug 14, 1843
My dear Sir,

Your letter of the 6th of August is just received. Mr.
Benj. Green, son of Genl Duff Green, is going out to Mexico,
immediately, as Secty of Legation and will take all the dis-
patches which I have occasion to send. Of course, I have no
occasion to employ any other person in that service. But
this does not prevent me from complying with your request
in regard to.the Genl Green of whom you write, As the
Dept. does not sneed a bearer of despatches, it cannot pay any
thing for that service; but it is a very common practice to
give to citizens whose interests strongly require it the facili-
ties which are afforded by heing made the bearers of dispatches
by simply entrusting to them a letter or jacket of papers. This
is a benefit to the citizen and as he is paid nothing, it is not
injurions to the Government. This is by no means a general
practice, but it is always done in cases which clearly require it.

. *Early mention of the name of Upshur is found repeatedly in connec-
tion with “the grandecs of the county” of Northampton, Virginia, “the land
of the pine and myttle”; and the tombstone bearing the inscription——

“In memory of Arthur Upshur, born in the County of Essex in the
K_flr;lg.dnii of England, who died January 26, 1709, in the 85th Year -
of his Age”

is st to be seen, with that of Mary, his wife, at Warwick, or “Quinby’s
Farm,” in Upshur’s Neck, Eastern Shore of Virginia.. :

This Arthur Upshur, who came to Virginia in 1637 and settled on the
Eastern Shore of Virginia, was the third great grandfather of Abel Parker
Upshur, who was Secretary of the Navy and Secretary of State under
President Tyler. ]

On February 28, 1844, Mr. Upshur, together with Mr. Gilmer, Secre-
tary of the Navy; Commodore Kennon, Mr. Gardner, of New York, father
of Mr. Tyler's second wife; Mr. Maxey, who had been Uuited States
charge at the Haguc, and two seamen were killed by the explosion of a
gun aboard the U. 5§ 5. Princéton during an experimental firing in the
Potorhac River, below Mounnt Vemmon, -President Tyler was alsa aboard
at this time, but fortunately, ‘he had remained below with other guests.
(See Niles’ Register; alse H.' A. Wise, S¢ven Decades.)



